

# INFLUENCE OF FARMING PRACTICES ON THE CHEMICAL PROPERTIES OF SOIL IN SMALL SCALE TEA FARMS IN KIRINYAGA AND THARAKA-NITHI COUNTIES OF KENYA

Mogeni, I. H.<sup>1</sup>, Muiru, W. M.<sup>1</sup>, Kimenju, J. W.<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> *University of Nairobi, Department of Plant Science and Crop Protection, P.O. Box 29053-00625, Nairobi, Kenya*

Authors' contributions

*This work was carried out in collaboration among all authors. Authors MIH and MWM designed the study, performed the statistical analysis, wrote the protocol and the first draft of the manuscript. Authors MWM and KJW managed the analyses of the study and the literature searches. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.*

## 1.1 Abstract

Soil chemical properties are important for growth of plants as they determine the nutrient availability for their uptake. Farming practices are treatments applied to farms in efforts to maximize crop productivity. Experiments were set up in Kangaita, Kirinyaga County, and Weru, Tharaka-Nithi County using randomized complete block design to establish the influence of farming practices on the chemical properties of soil in tea production areas. This was aimed at understanding the role of the farming practices on the availability of soil nutrients and their effect on tea productivity. Each study site was divided into three zones depending on elevation and three farming practices identified within each zone namely neglected farms, manure applied farms and chemical fertilizer (NPK) applied farm. Soil samples were collected randomly from farms in each zone and analyzed for chemical properties. Soil acidity increased from neglected farms through manure applied farms to NPK fertilizer applied (standard) farms. The soils had generally low levels of K, Mg and Zn due to rapid removal through harvesting of the young shoots and leaves.

Comment [H1]: Confused.

## Key words:

growth, farms, farming practices, productivity, soil chemical properties,

## 1.2 Introduction

Chemical properties of soil determine availability of nutrients for uptake by plants. The balance of both macro and micro nutrients in any soil play a vital role in plant growth. The interactions of the nutrients also affect the availability of each other either positively or negatively [1], [2], [3]. Various cultural practices including weeding, fertilizer application and even harvesting of farm produce affect the nutrient composition and balance in the soil which in turn affect the performance of crops in terms of productivity. Other factors like leaching and surface run off also play a role in soil physical and chemical composition.

Comment [H2]: The authors did not present the research objective.

Tea is cultivated using a number of cultural practices which are aimed at increasing the productivity of the tea plant. These cultural practices include weeding, pruning, fertilizer application and plucking/harvesting rounds [4]. These practices greatly affect biodiversity in the soil [5]. Soil biodiversity is the variety of life below the ground and it's an indicator of sustainable land use [5]. Soil hosts a wide range of microbes (fungi and bacteria), macrobes (termites and earthworms) and mesofauna (acari, collembolan and nematodes) [5], [6]. Land use affects soil characteristics like organic carbon (OC) which was highest in least disturbed land [5]. This was attributed to low biological activity in tea husbandry and the monocrop husbandry characteristic in tea growing. The amount of organic matter (OM) in the soil affects the health and performance of the plants. The organic matter acts to suppresses parasitic microorganisms such as nematodes thus improving the health of the tea plants [3], [4].

Farmers use chemical fertilizers in the cultivation of tea, mainly Diammonium Phosphate (DAP) during nursery establishment and planting and Nitrogen-Phosphorus-Potassium (NPK) for top dressing [4]. Excessive application of fertilizer can cause imbalance in nutrient uptake and fix some nutrients leading to poor performance of the tea plant [1], [2], [3]. In Kenya's small scale holder tea farming, the recommended NPK application rate is 50kgs per 700 bushes [4].

### 1.3 Materials and methods

The study was carried out in already established small-scale tea farms in Kirinyaga and Tharaka-Nithi counties of Kenya. The two counties were chosen to allow for comparison between various ecological zones. One tea factory catchment managed by the Kenya Tea Development Agency (KTDA) was chosen per county. Each factory catchment was zoned into three based on elevation, that is, high, medium and low elevation as represented in agro-ecological zones LH0, LH1 and UM1 [7]. Three types of agricultural/farming practices were considered across the ecological zones within the area of study. These were non-cultivated (neglected) farms, cultivated farms with regular application of NPK fertilizer and farms practicing organic farming with organic mulching and/or manure application. The survey was set up in a randomized complete block design. Five sub-samples were randomly obtained from each farm. The soils were scooped from the surface to a depth of 30cm using a soil auger. Twenty-seven samples were collected from the three farming practices replicated three times. The samples were transported in a cool box to the laboratory for analysis.

Two hundred grams of soil from the farms in each zone was analyzed for physical and chemical characteristics. The analysis was aimed at measuring the soil pH, exchangeable acidity, total nitrogen (TN), total organic carbon (TOC), available nutrient elements: phosphorus (P), potassium (K), sodium (Na), calcium (Ca), magnesium (Mg), manganese (Mn), iron (Fe), zinc (Zn) and copper (Cu). The soil samples were passed through a 2mm sieve and oven dried at 40°C.

Soil pH was determined in a 1:1 (w/v) soil – water suspension with a pH meter.

Exchangeable acidity was determined using titration method. The soil was oven dried at 40°C. Five grams of the oven dried soil sample (< 2mm) was placed into a 50ml container. This was followed by addition of 125mL of 1 M KCl to the container and the contents were stirred using a clean glass rod. The mixture was allowed to stand for 30 minutes. The mixture was filtered through a funnel and leached with 5 successive 12.5mL aliquots of 1 M KCl. Three drops of phenolphthalein indicator solution were added and then titrated with 0.1 M NaOH to the first permanent pink color of the end point. The burette was read and the volume (ml) of NaOH used was recorded.

Total nitrogen was determined using Kjeldahl method. Two grams of the soil sample (< 0.5mm) was oven dried at 40°C and digested with concentrated sulphuric acid containing potassium sulphate, selenium and copper sulphate hydrated at approximately 350°C. Total nitrogen was determined by distillation followed by titration with diluted standardized 0.007144M H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>. [8].

Total organic carbon was determined using the calorimetric method. All the OC in the oven dried soil sample (< 0.5mm) at 40°C was oxidized by acidified dichromate at 150°C for 30 minutes to ensure complete oxidation. Barium chloride was added to the cool digests. After mixing thoroughly, the digests were allowed to stand overnight. The C concentration was read on the spectrophotometer at 600nm [9].

Available nutrient elements (P, K, Na, Mg and Mn) were determined using the Mehlich Double Acid method. The oven dry soil samples at 40°C (< 2mm) were extracted in a 1:5 ratio (w/v) with a mixture of 0.1 M HCl and 0.025 M H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>. Na, Ca and K were determined using a flame photometer. P, Mg and Mn were determined spectrophotometrically [10].

Fe, Zn and Cu were determined by AAS (atomic absorption spectrophotometer). The oven dry (at 40°C) soil samples (<2mm) were extracted in a 1:10 ratio (w/v) with 0.1 M HCl. The elements were then determined with AAS (atomic absorption spectrophotometer) [10].

Statistical analysis was done using Genstat edition 14.

#### 1.4 Results

Soil chemical analysis conducted yielded results for soil pH, exchangeable acidity, TN, TOC, P, K, Ca, Mg, Mn, Cu, Fe, Zn and Na. At Kangaita, the figures ranged as follows; pH 3.0-4.95, exchangeable acidity 0.3-0.5, TN 0.54-5.5, TOC 5.6-8.17, P (mg dm<sup>-3</sup>) 50-180, K 0.2-2.79, (Table 1.1). At Weru, the figures ranged as follows; pH 4.0-5.2, exchangeable acidity 0.2-0.5, TN 0.14-0.4, TOC 1.3-3.95, P (mg dm<sup>-3</sup>) 5-25, K 0.22-0.78 (Tables 1.1 and 1.2).

Comment [H3]: ???

**Table 1.1: Soil test results for Kangaita**

Zone	Farming practice	Soil pH	EA cmolc dm <sup>-3</sup> /100g	TN mg dm <sup>-3</sup>	TOC mg dm <sup>-3</sup>	P mg dm <sup>-3</sup>	K meq /100g cmol c dm <sup>-3</sup>	Ca cmolc dm <sup>-3</sup> /100g	Mg cmolc dm <sup>-3</sup> /100g	Mn cmolc dm <sup>-3</sup> /100g	Cu mg dm <sup>-3</sup>	Fe mg dm <sup>-3</sup>	Zn mg dm <sup>-3</sup>	Na meq /100g cmol
Upper	Standard	3.00a	0.50a	0.56a	5.86a	125.00d	0.40cd	3.00a	1.67c	0.82f	3.81b	122.00f	3.52c	0.22cd
Upper	Manure	4.05d	0.50a	0.65bc	6.81bc	140.00e	2.72f	10.67g	3.63e	0.43d	0.66a	56.63d	8.62d	1.22f
Upper	Neglected	4.07d	0.50a	0.60b	6.61b	80.00b	0.26b	3.67b	0.56a	0.41d	0.64a	38.00c	3.95c	0.14a
Medium	Standard	3.80c	0.50a	0.65bc	6.62b	150.00f	0.42d	5.00d	0.95b	0.44d	0.54a	24.40a	2.20b	0.20c
Medium	Manure	3.32b	0.50a	0.65bc	6.69b	145.00ef	0.30b	4.00c	1.95d	0.30c	1.12a	145.00h	9.98e	0.17b
Medium	Neglected	4.25e	0.50a	0.56a	5.73a	50.00a	0.20a	3.00a	0.93b	0.60e	1.02a	34.43b	3.48c	0.16ab
Lower	Standard	3.02a	0.50a	0.79e	8.14e	178.30g	0.28b	6.00e	0.95b	0.28c	0.40a	137.00g	1.11a	0.20c
Lower	Manure	4.01d	0.50a	0.69cd	7.06cd	95.00c	1.50e	9.30f	3.80f	0.20b	0.57a	40.70c	13.10f	1.04e
Lower	Neglected	4.08d	0.50a	0.70d	7.25d	85.00b	0.36c	5.00d	0.93b	0.11a	4.90b	68.70e	2.00b	0.24d
	LSD	0.15	-	0.04	0.33	5.36	0.05	0.31	0.02	0.02	2.10	3.00	0.67	0.02
	C.V%	2.40	-	3.80	2.90	2.70	4.10	3.30	0.90	3.90	79.90	2.30	7.30	3.50

Means followed by different letters within the same column are significantly different. EA – exchangeable acidity, TN – Total Nitrogen, TOC – Total Organic Carbon P – Phosphorus, K – Potassium, Ca – Calcium, Mg – Magnesium, Mn – Manganese, Cu – Copper, Fe – Iron, Zn – Zinc, Na – Sodium,  
 Upper - LH0, Medium - LH1, Lower - UM1

Formatted: Superscript

Comment [H4]: Idem.

**Table 1.2: Soil test results for Weru**

Zone	Farming practice	Soil pH	EA meq /100g	TN mg dm <sup>-3</sup>	TOC mg dm <sup>-3</sup>	P mg dm <sup>-3</sup>	K meq /100g	Ca meq /100g	Mg meq /100g	Mn meq /100g	Cu mg dm <sup>-3</sup>	Fe mg dm <sup>-3</sup>	Zn mg dm <sup>-3</sup>	Na meq /100g
Upper	Standard	4.33b	0.40a	0.38e	4.05g	10.00b	0.40d	8.23fg	0.46ab	0.71f	1.71ab	49.20h	5.51h	0.21c
Upper	Manure	4.12a	0.50a	0.35d	3.46f	23.33d	0.51e	8.26g	0.81b	0.30c	1.82ab	53.27i	2.22f	0.40e
Upper	Neglected	4.12a	0.50a	0.38e	3.93g	20.00c	0.22a	5.40d	0.50ab	0.18a	1.00a	34.10d	1.08a	0.16ab
Medium	Standard	5.16e	0.20a	0.22b	2.26cd	6.67a	0.28c	6.20e	1.76c	0.46e	2.89b	44.67g	2.08e	0.18b
Medium	Manure	5.02d	0.30a	0.24c	2.46de	23.33d	0.75f	12.20h	1.50c	0.21b	15.67e	23.90c	1.70b	0.35d
Medium	Neglected	4.42bc	0.40a	0.25c	2.65e	10.00b	0.24ab	8.00f	0.50ab	0.41d	1.00a	35.13e	3.22g	0.18b
Lower	Standard	4.47c	0.40a	0.21c	2.01bc	10.00b	0.26bc	5.00c	0.17a	0.71f	9.18d	13.97b	1.75c	0.14a
Lower	Manure	4.10a	0.50a	0.14a	1.34a	5.00a	0.52e	8.26g	0.47ab	0.44e	23.46f	39.50f	2.07e	0.36d
Lower	Neglected	4.16a	0.50a	0.15a	1.81b	10.00b	0.24ab	4.16a	0.57ab	0.88g	4.80c	11.60a	2.00d	0.15a
	LSD	0.11	-	0.01	0.36	3.00	0.02	0.24	0.40	0.02	1.36	0.45	0.05	0.02
	C.V%	1.50	-	2.80	7.90	13.20	3.10	2.10	31.30	2.90	11.50	0.80	1.20	5.60

Means followed by different letters within the same column are significantly different. EA – exchangeable acidity, TN – Total Nitrogen, TOC – Total Organic Carbon P – Phosphorus, K – Potassium, Ca – Calcium, Mg – Magnesium, Mn – Manganese, Cu – Copper, Fe – Iron, Zn – Zinc, Na – Sodium, me – milli equivalents, ppm – parts per million, Upper - LH0, Medium - LH1, Lower - UM1

There was a significant difference ( $P < 0.05$ ) in the three farming practices for soil pH, exchangeable acidity, TOC, P, K, Ca, Mg, Mn, Cu, Zn and Na (Table 1.3 and Table 1.4). There was no significant difference for total nitrogen TN, and iron Fe in the two sites.

**Table 1.3: Effect of farming practices on Soil pH, exchangeable acidity, total organic carbon and micronutrients at Kangaita**

Comment [H5]: Idem.

Treatment	pH	EA meq /100g	TN mg dm <sup>-3</sup>	TOC mg dm <sup>-3</sup>	P mg dm <sup>-3</sup>	K meq /100g	Ca meq /100g	Mg meq /100g	Mn meq /100g	Cu mg dm <sup>-3</sup>	Fe mg dm <sup>-3</sup>	Zn mg dm <sup>-3</sup>	Na meq /100g
Manure	3.95b	0.40a	0.66a	6.80b	126.70b	1.51b	7.99b	3.13b	0.31a	5.77b	80.80a	10.57b	0.81b
Standard	3.11a	0.50b	1.17a	6.15a	151.10b	0.37a	4.67a	1.19a	0.52b	2.25a	94.50a	2.28a	0.21a
Neglected	4.44c	0.38a	0.67a	7.24c	71.70a	0.28a	3.89a	0.81a	0.38ab	2.19a	47.00a	3.15a	0.18a
LSD	0.24	0.04	0.953	0.24	26.14	0.61	1.93	0.56	0.14	1.89	51.55	1.73	0.28
C.V%	6.20	9.00	114.30	3.60	22.50	84.50	35.00	33.00	34.70	55.60	69.60	32.50	70.10

Means followed by different letters within the same column are significantly different. EA – exchangeable acidity, TN – Total Nitrogen, TOC – Total Organic Carbon P – Phosphorus, K – Potassium, Ca – Calcium, Mg – Magnesium, Mn – Manganese, Cu – Copper, Fe – Iron, Zn – Zinc, Na – Sodium, me – milli equivalents, ppm – parts per million

**Table 1.4: Effect of farming practices on Soil pH, exchangeable acidity, total organic carbon and micronutrients at Weru**

Comment [H6]: Idem.

Treatment	pH	EA meq /100g	TN mg dm <sup>-3</sup>	TOC mg dm <sup>-3</sup>	P mg dm <sup>-3</sup>	K meq /100g	Ca meq /100g	Mg meq /100g	Mn meq /100g	Cu mg dm <sup>-3</sup>	Fe mg dm <sup>-3</sup>	Zn mg dm <sup>-3</sup>	Na meq /100g
Manure	4.41b	0.43b	0.24a	2.567b	17.22b	0.60b	8.36b	0.93a	0.32a	13.65b	38.90a	7.00b	0.37b
Standard	4.23a	0.46b	0.27a	2.22a	8.89a	0.32a	6.48a	0.80a	0.63b	4.60a	35.90a	3.11a	0.18a
Neglected	4.66c	0.34a	0.26a	2.87c	13.33ab	0.24a	5.86a	0.52a	0.50b	2.27a	26.90a	3.43a	0.17a
LSD	0.18	0.05	0.03	0.19	5.79	0.09	1.65	0.44	0.16	4.40	11.17	1.14	0.02
C.V%	4.00	11.80	9.30	7.60	44.10	22.70	24.00	58.40	34.30	64.4	33.00	25.30	8.80
P Value	<.001	<.001	0.07	0.015	0.025	<.001	0.015	0.168	0.004	<.001	0.091	<.001	<.001

Means followed by different letters within the same column are significantly different. EA – exchangeable acidity, TN – Total Nitrogen, TOC – Total Organic Carbon P – Phosphorus, K – Potassium, Ca – Calcium, Mg – Magnesium, Mn – Manganese, Cu – Copper, Fe – Iron, Zn – Zinc, Na – Sodium, me – milli equivalents, ppm – parts per million

## 1.5 Discussion

The farming practices had a significant effect on the soil pH. The soil acidity was highest in inorganic fertilizer applied farms (Standard) followed by manure applied farms and lowest in neglected farms. Tea grows well in acidic soils of pH between 4.5 and 5.6 [11]. However, the continuous use of nitrogenous fertilizer increases the soil acidity [3]. The farmers tend to use the recommended fertilizers non-judiciously with the hope of increasing yield but this instead leads to increase in soil acidity, pollution of water masses and poses a challenge to the sustainability of the tea production [12]. The acidified soils tend to adversely affect the soil microorganisms [2]. The applied manure plays an important role in reducing soil acidity which is increased by continuous application of nitrogenous fertilizers [3].

There was a significant difference among the three farming practices in soil pH, exchangeable acidity, total organic carbon (TOC), phosphorus (P), potassium (K), calcium (Ca), magnesium (Mg), manganese (Mn), copper (Cu), zinc (Zn), iron (Fe) and sodium (Na). There was no significant difference for total nitrogen (TN), and iron (Fe) in the two sites. This can be attributed to the interaction of both macro and micro nutrients in the soil [13] and application of the fertilizers affecting soil pH [3].

Soil pH was also affected by the farming practice due to the type and intensity of fertilizer application. High rates of inorganic nitrogenous fertilizers led to increased soil acidity [3] while application of manure led to decrease in soil acidity.

Comment [H7]: Repetitive. Put together with the first paragraph.

Deficiency of zinc (Zn) in the soil can be induced by a buildup of phosphorus resulting from excessive application of phosphate fertilizers [14]. High levels of iron in the soil leads to copper (Cu) deficiency and even though iron (Fe) is found to be sufficient in the soil, it is poorly reflected in the leaves due to high levels of zinc (Zn) in the leaves [15]. High soil pH results to retention of micronutrients in the soil [16]. The concentration of Mn, Cu, Fe and Zn increases with the increase in organic content in the soil [16]. Where potassium (K) is not matched with nitrogen, there is depletion of starch reserves in the roots, degeneration of feeder roots characterized by die back and buildup of nitrates in the soil [17]. Phosphorus is affected by soil acidity. Phosphorus availability to plants is highest when there is moderate pH of about 5.5 – 7 and becomes exceedingly unavailable at pH above 7 and below 5.5 [1]. In very acidic soils, phosphorus (P) combines with hydroxides of iron (Fe) and aluminum (Al) to form compounds that are unavailable to plants [1].

The availability of nitrogen (N) in the soil is affected by other nutrients and it also affects the availability of other nutrients in the soil. Increase in nitrogen (N) leads to decrease in mature leaf P, K, Ca and Mg due to the acidification of the soil by the ammonia in the fertilizer [13]. A decrease in mature leaf potassium (K) can be attributed by leaching triggered by ammonium nitrate in NPK fertilizer [13].

Application of manure led to reduction in soil pH. This is because decomposition improves soil acidity. The manure counters the negative effects of inorganic fertilizer application and reverses soil degradation. This facilitates sustainable farming which increases productivity with minimum environmental degradation [18]. Manure application also improves the nutrient conditions of the soil as well as a more stable C/N ratio and supports greatest biodiversity in soil [19].

Comment [H8]: These are two different ideas. You must make a connection between these ideas.

## 1.6 Conclusion

Various agricultural practices have a significant effect on the availability and nutrient balance in the soil. Manure application is less degrading to the soils as compared to the other two farming practices. There are generally low levels of potassium (K), magnesium (Mg) and zinc (Zn) in soils under tea due to rapid removal through harvesting of the young shoots and leaves.

## 1.7 References

1. Hamid F. S., (2006). Yield and quality of tea under varying conditions of soil and nitrogen availability. PhD dissertation. Department of plant sciences, Faculty of biological sciences, Quaid-i-Azam University Islamabad, Pakistan
2. Thenmozhi K., Manian S and Paulsamy S. (2012). Influence of long term nitrogen and potassium fertilization on the biochemistry of tea soil. Journal of research in Agriculture 1(2):124-135pp



3. Sultana J., Siddique M. N. A., Kamaruzzaman M. and Halim M. A., 2014. Conventional to ecological: Tea plantation soil management in Panchagarh District of Bangladesh. *Journal of Science Technology and Environment Informatics* 1(1): 27–35.
4. TBK, 2013. Tea Board of Kenya June News. Posted on 18 June 2013 <http://www.teaboard.or.ke/news/2013/28.06.2013.html> Accessed on 14, July 2014
5. Wachira P. M, J. W. Kimenju, S. A. Okoth, J. W. Wangu and T. M. Ng'ang'a (2014). Effect of land use on abundance and diversity of nematode destroying fungi and soil nematodes in Embu county, Kenya. *Journal of agricultural science*; Vol. 6, No. 5; 2014.
6. Bardgett, R. D. (2005). *The biology of soil: a community and ecosystem approach*. New York: Oxford University Press Inc. <http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780198525035.001.0001>
7. Jaetzold, R., Hornetz, B., Shisanya, C.A. & Schmidt, H. (2010): *Farm Management Handbook of Kenya*. - Vol. I-IV (Western, Central, Eastern, Nyanza, Southern Rift Valley, Northern Rift Valley, Coast), Nairobi 6.
8. Okalebo J.R., Gathna K.W and Woomeer P.L., 2002. *Laboratory methods for soil and plant analysis working manual* 2nd edition. Tropical soil fertility and biology program, Nairobi, Kenya. TSBF-CIAT and SACRED Africa, Nairobi, Kenya.
9. Walkley A. and Black L.A., 1934. An examination of the Degtjareff method of determining soil organic matter and a proposed modification of the chromic acid titration method. *Soil Science* 37:29-38.
10. Mukai T., Horie H., and Goto T., 1992. Differences in free amino acids and total nitrogen contents among various prices of green teas. *Tea Research Journal* 76: 45-50.
11. Njogu R. N., Kariuki D. M., Kamau D. M. and Wachira F. N. (2013). Relationship between tea (*Camellia sinensis*) leaf uptake of major nutrients, nitrogen, phosphorus, and potassium (NPK) and leaf anatomy of different varieties grown in the Kenyan highlands. *International journal of Humanities, Arts, Medicine and Sciences* 2(8):95-102pp
12. Tabu I.M., Kekana V.M. and Kamau D.M. 2015. Effects of Varying Ratios and Rates of Enriched Cattle Manure on Leaf Nitrogen Content, Yield and Quality of Tea (*Camellia sinensis*), *Journal of Agricultural Science* (5):175-18
13. IPCC (1990). Special report, land use, land use change and forestry. United Nations Environmental program, Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change
14. Nelson S., (2006). Zinc deficiency in tea (*Camellia sinensis*). *Plant Disease* PD-34pp
15. Kitundu, K. B. M. and Mrema J. P., 2006. The status of Zn, Cu, Mn and Fe in the soils and tea leaves of Kibena Tea Estates, Njombe, Tanzania. *Tanzania Journal of Agricultural Sciences* 7(1): 34-41pp
16. Nath T. N. 2013b. The status of Micronutrients (Mn, Fe, Cu, Zn) in Tea plantations in Dibrugarh district of Assam, India. *International Research Journal of Environment Sciences* 2(6): 25-30.
17. Jessy M. D. 2010. Potassium management in plantation crops with special reference to tea, coffee and rubber. *Karnataka J.Agric.Sci.* ,24(1): 67-74.

18. Sitienei, K., Kamiri, H. W., Nduru, G. M., & Kamau, D. M. (2018). Nutrient Budget and Economic Assessment of Blended Fertilizer Use in Kenya Tea Industry. *Applied and Environmental Soil Science*, 2018.
19. Li *et al.* (2014). Effects of organic and other management practices on soil nematode communities in tea plantation: a case study in southern China. *Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science*, 177(4), 604-612.